IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THOMAS WILLIAM RANDOLPH

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 73825

Direct Appeal From A Judgment Of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Stefany Miley, District Judge District Court No. 09C250966

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DEC 17 2018 ELIZASETTA A BROWN CLERK OF SUPPLEME COURT DEPUTY CLERK Sandra L. Stewart, Esq. State Bar No. 6834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, NV 89148 702-363-4656 Attorney for Thomas Randolph

件。 31 FILED

DEC 1 8 2018

ABETUR BROWN

18-909186

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THOMAS WILLIAM RANDOLPH

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. **BASIS FOR APPELLATE JURISDICTION**

NRAP 4(b); NRS 177.015(3); NRS. 177.055.

B. FILING DATES ESTABLISHING TIMELINESS OF APPEAL

08-23-17: Judgment of Conviction filed¹

08-23-17: Notice of Appeal filed²

C. ASSERTION OF FINAL ORDER OR JUDGMENT

This appeal is from the judgment of conviction filed on August 23, 2017 and the Order Of Execution filed on August 23, 2017,³ and all other appealable orders and findings in this case.

Π

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(1), this death penalty case is assigned to the

Supreme Court of Nevada.

¹ ROA/24/5062-5064.

² ROA/24/5067-5068.

³ ROA/24/5072.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether RANDOLPH's State and Federal 5th and 14th amendment rights to due process, equal protection, and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of all convictions where the conspiracy conviction was not supported by any evidence, and the murder convictions were predicated upon a theory that RANDOLPH conspired with Michael Moore to kill his wife (Sharon Randolph) and then killed Michael Moore to silence the "hit man."

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether RANDOLPH's State and Federal 5th and 14th amendment rights to due process, equal protection, and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and a denial of the Full, Faith And Credit clause of the United State Constitution where a Utah prosecutor was permitted to testify at a *Petrocelli* hearing and at trial about expunged cases, in violation of Utah Code Ann. Section 77-40-108.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether RANDOLPH's 5th and 14th Amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated and the Court committed manifest error in admitting evidence of a prior charge against RANDOLPH for murdering his second wife (Becky) and then attempting to hire someone to beat up her lover (Tarantino), where RANDOLPH was acquitted of the murder charge and all records relating to the Becky and Tarantino incidents were expunged by the Utah court.

ISSUE NO. 4: Whether RANDOLPH's state Constitutional right to bail and his Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial were violated where there was no evidence of a conspiracy to support the state's theory, and RANDOLPH was held without bail for over eight years awaiting trial, based in part on misconduct of the state in withholding exculpatory witness statements and improperly seeking admission of prior expunged 20-year-old records.

ISSUE NO. 5: Whether RANDOLPH's 5th and 14th Amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to reversible error where the prosecutor infected the court and the jury with several instances of misconduct, including but not limited to, intentionally misinforming both the Court and the jury on several occasions that RANDOLPH was a serial wife murderer.

ISSUE NO. 6: Whether RANDOLPH's state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law, equal protection, a fair trial, and a fair and impartial jury were violated by the procedures employed during jury selection to dismiss qualified jurors for cause, and use peremptory challenges to stack the jury in favor of the death penalty.

ISSUE NO. 7: Whether RANDOLPH's 5th and 14th Amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to reversible error where the court denied RANDOLPH's request to argue last during the penalty phase.

ISSUE NO. 8: Whether the sentence of death in this case should be reversed because it was imposed under the influence of passion, prejudice and other arbitrary factors, because it is excessive considering both the crime and the defendant, it is unconstitutional under the current Execution Manual of 2017, and it is unenforceable given drug manufacturers' pending litigation to prohibit use of their products for executions.

IV

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>NATURE OF THE CASE</u>

This is a case about a vindictive Utah prosecutor (McGuire)⁴ and Utah police officer (Conley) who tricked Nevada police and prosecutors into believing that RANDOLPH is a serial wife killer who must be put to death regardless of the means to that end. This vendetta arose out of a failed prosecution of RANDOLPH by McGuire and Conley 29 years ago when RANDOLPH's wife (Becky) committed suicide. Thereafter, RANDOLPH successfully sued McGuire and Conley for malicious prosecution. All records of that failed prosecution were expunged by the Utah courts; however McGuire and Conley in violation of the

ROA/3/537.

Utah expungement statute kept private records of the RANDOLPH prosecution, and McGuire testified against him at a *Petrocelli* hearing in this case. Both testified against him during trial.

In this case, RANDOLPH walked in on his wife (Sharon) laying in a pool of blood, and then shot and killed her assailant (Michael Miller) who surprised RANDOLPH when he walked in on the scene. The state's theory in this case is that RANDOLPH hired Miller to kill Sharon for life insurance money and then killed Miller. However, there was absolutely no evidence of a conspiracy between RANDOLPH and Miller to commit murder, and the grand jury expressed concern about that.

The court in this case allowed in evidence of the Becky prosecution, and RANDOLPH was convicted not because there was evidence that he hired Miller to kill Sharon but because the prosecutor was allowed through evidence of the Becky prosecution to convince the jury that RANDOLPH was a bad person – a serial wife killer. RANDOLPH stated it best when he said at a November 26, 2012 hearing after being incarcerated for four years:

THE DEFENDANT:I'M GOING TO BE FOUND GUILTY FOR SOMETHING I DIDN'T DO IN LAS VEGAS, BASED ON SOMETHING I DIDN'T DO IN UTAH BACK IN 1983 (SIC) AND I'VE ALREADY BEEN TRIED AND ACQUITTED OF IT. IT'S JUST – IT'S CRAZY; IT'S INSANE.⁵

ROA(Sealed)/8/1551-1552.

5

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

- ??-??-81 Randolph meets Becky where they are working at Albertsons⁶
- ??-??-81 Becky has nervous breakdown.⁷
- 03-??-82 Randolph meets Tarantino at Timberline Cabinets.⁸
- 11-??-82 Randolph approaches Tarantino about killing Becky.⁹
- 12-??-82 Tarantino left Timberline.¹⁰
- 01-??-83 Randolph was laid off from Timberline Cabinets.¹¹
- 02-??-83 Tarantino goes to work for Herkle Cabinets.¹²
- 04-??-83 Randolph goes to work for Herkle Cabinets.¹³
- 04-08-83 Randolph divorce from Kathryn (1st wife) final.¹⁴
- 04-08-83 Randolph and Becky (2nd wife) get married.¹⁵
- 08-??-83 Tarantino has affair with Becky.¹⁶
- 08-26-84 Tarantino starts fire in trailer where Becky was sleeping.¹⁷

11-06-86 Becky commits suicide¹⁸

- 11-07-86 Randolph discovers Becky's body after release for DUI.¹⁹
- ??-??-88 McGuire flies to New Hampshire to interview Tarantino.²⁰
- 01-08-89 Randolph tries to hire someone to "whack" Tarantino.²¹
- ??-??-89 Randolph tried and acquitted of Becky murder.²²
- 05-??-89 Randolph pleads to witness tampering to clear girlfriend (Wendy)²³
- 09-16-89 Kathryn Thomas (1st wife) letter re Connely vendetta.²⁴
- ⁶ ROA(Sealed)/38/8230-8231.
- ⁷ ROA/22/4681.
- ⁸ ROA/2/366, 17/3589.
- ⁹ ROA/2/366, 17/3592-3593.
- ¹⁰ ROA/17/3589.
- ¹¹ ROA/2/366.
- ¹² ROA/2/366, 17/3595.
- ¹³ ROA/2/366.
- ¹⁴ ROA/22/4641.
- ¹⁵ ROA(Sealed)/38/8232, 39/8438.
- ¹⁶ ROA/17/3613.
- ¹⁷ ROA/2/366, 22/4693, 4707, 4712.
- ¹⁸ ROA(Sealed)/38/8304, 39/8438.
- ¹⁹ ROA/2/366.
- ²⁰ ROA/3/524.
- ²¹ ROA(Sealed)/39/8419, 8423, 8428; ROA/2/368.
- ²² ROA(Sealed)/39/8461.
- ²³ ROA/2/368.

- ??-??-89 Randolph sues Utah prosecutors and wins.²⁵
- 10-06-89 Utah court finds that Tarantino is a liar.²⁶
- 07-21-92 Utah Order lowering WT (witness tampering) to misdemeanor.²⁷
- 01-20-94 Torgensen (Utah Assistant AG) letter that Randolph illegally sentenced on WT charge.²⁸
- ??-??-97 Randolph is welfare case worker.²⁹
- ??-??-03 Randolph goes on disability.³⁰
- 04-??-04 Randolph 4th wife (Frances) dies from surgery complications.³¹
- ??-??-04 Randolph sues hospital for Frances death and wins.³²
- 05-03-07 Randolph marries Sharon Randolph.³³
- 12-??-07 Randolph meets Miller.³⁴

05-08-08 Sharon Randolph and Michael Miller killed³⁵

- 08-26-08 O'Kelly (LVPD) obtains recorded statements about the Becky case.³⁶
- 12-16-08 Grand Jury wanted more info of conspiracy to commit murder.³⁷
- 01-06-09 Grand Jury (continued)³⁸
- 01-07-09 Randolph arrested in Utah.³⁹
- 01-15-09 Randolph incarcerated in Nevada.⁴⁰
- 02-04-09 Death Penalty Notice⁴¹
- 03-13-09 Randolph motion to set bail⁴²
- 04-01-09 Hearing on bail motion.⁴³
- ²⁴ ROA/25/5441-542.
- ²⁵ ROA(Sealed)/39/8469.
- ²⁶ ROA/2/428, 7/1513.
- ²⁷ ROA/7/1509.
- ²⁸ ROA/2/414, 431, 7/1503, 1511.
- ²⁹ ROA/31/6660.
- ³⁰ ROA/31/6662.
- ³¹ ROA/22/4626-4627, 31/6662.
- ³² ROA/22/4773.
- ³³ ROA/2/365.
- ³⁴ ROA/2/363.
- ³⁵ ROA/1/13.
- ³⁶ ROA(Sealed)/38/8227-8470.
- ³⁷ ROA/1/7, 199, 2/268.
- ³⁸ ROA/1/82.
- ³⁹ ROA/1/185.
- ⁴⁰ ROA/1/185.
- ⁴¹ ROA/1/170, 3/443.
- ⁴² ROA/1/184.

- 06-11-09 Randolph indigent; change of attorneys to PD (Brown).⁴⁴
- 07-15-09 Randolph attorney from Florida associates with PD (Galanter).⁴⁵
- 08-05-09 PD withdraws.⁴⁶
- 08-19-09 Galanter admitted pro hac vice, and associates Brent Bryson.⁴⁷
- 09-23-09 State motion to admit bad act evidence. State has facts of Utah case from "trial transcripts, officers' reports and witness statements."⁴⁸
- 03-17-10 Hearing where Randolph asserts he does not have "trial transcripts, officers' reports and witness statements," relating to Utah case.⁴⁹
- 03-17-10 Bail issue raised; needs to help with defense. Motion denied.⁵⁰
- 04-??-10 CCDC removed Randolph from pain medication.⁵¹
- 07-20-10 Randolph motion to exclude McGuire testimony per Utah law.⁵²
- 07-30-10 Randolph again asserts at hearing that he does not have "trial transcripts, officers' reports and witness statements," relating to Utah case which State claimed on 9-23-09 to have in its possession.⁵³
- 07-30-10 Court allows McGuire to testify at *Petrocelli* hearing.⁵⁴
- 07-30-10 *Petrocelli* hearing.⁵⁵
- 09-22-10 Decision allowing evidence of Becky and Tarantino cases.⁵⁶
- 11-28-11 Randolph motion to argue last at penalty phase.⁵⁷
- 11-28-11 Motion to prohibit peremptories to death certify jury.⁵⁸
- 11-28-11 Motion to challenge lethal injection.⁵⁹
- 01-06-12 Motion to withdraw counsel. Denied.⁶⁰
- ⁴³ ROA/2/266.
- ⁴⁴ ROA/2/300, 305.
- ⁴⁵ ROA/2/312, 318.
- ⁴⁶ ROA/2/326.
- ⁴⁷ ROA/2/330.
- ⁴⁸ ROA/2/361, 365.
- ⁴⁹ ROA/3/476.
- ⁵⁰ ROA/3/477, 483.
- ⁵¹ ROA/3/572.
- ⁵² ROA/3/487.
- ⁵³ ROA/3/499-500. (Conley gave copies of his files to O'Kelly, ROA/10/2185)
- ⁵⁴ ROA/3/501.
- ⁵⁵ ROA/3/490.
- ⁵⁶ ROA/3/575.
- ⁵⁷ ROA/3/634.
- ³⁸ ROA/4/681.
- ⁵⁹ ROA/4/688.
- ⁶⁰ ROA/5/1051.

- 02-10-12 Bryson and Galanter motions to withdraw.⁶¹
- 02-13-12 Motions to withdraw granted.⁶²
- 02-27-12 Reed confirmed as counsel.⁶³
- ??-??-12 Defense receives copies of witness statements for first time.⁶⁴
- 07-06-12 Randolph motion for reconsideration of bad acts.⁶⁵
- 08-03-12 Order denying motion for reconsideration re bad acts.⁶⁶
- 09-10-12 Randolph asks court to move things along.⁶⁷
- 04-22-13 Hearing on motion to withdraw counsel. Denied⁶⁸
- 09-05-13 Randolph renewed motion to reconsider bad acts.⁶⁹
- 09-18-13 Order allowing Randolph access to laptop.⁷⁰
- 10-02-13 Hearing on Randolph renewed motion to reconsider bad acts.⁷¹
- 11-20-13 Findings of Fact on bad action motion. Denied.⁷²
- 01-08-14 Randolph request for continuance. State withholding evidence.⁷³
- 02-24-14 Randolph motion to supplement *Petrocelli*.⁷⁴
- 03-06-14 Hearing on Motion to supplement *Petrocelli*.⁷⁵
- 03-27-14 Reed motion to withdraw as counsel for Randolph.⁷⁶
- 04-02-14 Schieck confirms as Randolph counsel.⁷⁷
- 03-29-16 Randolph MIL to preclude reference to PBA as "murder cases" or "murder for hire" cases.⁷⁸
- ⁶¹ ROA/6/1133, 1137.
- ⁶² ROA/6/1161.
- ⁶³ ROA/6/1166.
- ⁶⁴ ROA/10/2082, 2086-2087.
- ⁶⁵ ROA/6/1240.
- ⁶⁶ ROA/6/1301.
- ⁶⁷ ROA(Sealed)/7/1420.
- ⁶⁸ ROA/8/1751, 1758.
- ⁶⁹ ROA/7/1501.
- ⁷⁰ ROA/8/1562.
- ⁷¹ ROA/8/1727.
- ⁷² ROA/9/1764-1765.
- ⁷³ ROA/9/1820.

⁷⁴ ROA(Sealed)/9/1834. (State attaches copies of 8-26-08 witness statements which it falsely claims it did not have until after the *Petrocelli* hearing of 8-16-10.)

- ⁷⁵ ROA/10/2081.
- ⁷⁶ ROA(Sealed)/10/2096.
- ⁷⁷ ROA/10/2104, 2111.
- ⁸ ROA/10/2177.

- Randolph motion to supplement Petrocelli.⁷⁹ 03-29-16
- 01-23-17 Hearing on MIL to refer to PBA as Utah case and Tampering With Witness; granted.⁸⁰
- 04-05-17 Randolph motion re jury selection.⁸¹
- Jury Trial begins⁸² 06-12-17
- Hearing re PBA (prior bad acts).⁸³ 06-14-17
- Hearing re PBA.⁸² 06-15-17
- 06-16-17 Tarantino Testimony.⁸⁵
- 06-28-17 Jury Verdict; Guilty of conspiracy and double murder.⁸⁶
- Penalty phase begins.⁸⁷ 06-28-17
- Special Verdict for death.⁸⁸ 07-05-17
- 08-23-17 Judgment Of Conviction.⁸⁹
- 08-23-17 Warrant of Execution (lethal injection).⁹⁰
- Sentencing.⁹¹ 08-23-17
- Order of Execution.⁹² 08-23-17
- Order to stay execution.⁹³ 08-23-17
- 08-23-17 Notice of appeal.⁹⁴

. . . .

. . . .

- ROA/10/2181. 80
- ROA/11/2331-2332. 81
- ROA/11/2360. 82
- ROA/13/2665. 83
- ROA/14/3037. 84
- ROA/15/3238. 85
- ROA/17/3584. 86
- ROA/21/4480. 87
- ROA/21/4607.
- 88 ROA/23/5032-5038.
- 89 ROA/24/5062.
- 90 ROA/23/5058.
- 91 ROA/24/5079.
- 92 ROA/24/5072.
- 93 ROA/24/5073. 94
- ROA/24/5075.

C. **DISPOSITION BY THE COURT BELOW**

COUNT	CHARGE	SENTENCE ⁹⁵
1	Conspiracy to commit murder (NRS 200.010, 200.030)	32-84 months
2	Murder w/use of Sharon Randolph (NRS 200.010, 200.030)	Death + consec. 96-240
3	Murder w/use of Michael Miller (NRS 200.010, 200.030)	Death + consec. 96-240

V

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On May 8, 2008 Randolph and his wife, Sharon, returned home after having dinner out. Randolph stopped in the driveway to let his wife out of the car. When Randolph entered the house a short while later, he found his wife lying face down at the end of the hallway. After seeing shadows, Randolph got his gun and thereafter fired several shots at a masked intruder who then fell into the garage. Additional shots were fired at the intruder after he had fallen in the garage. The intruder was later determined to be Michael Miller, a friend of Randolph's. Randolph called 911 but medical personnel were unable to revive either Sharon or Michael Miller.⁹⁶

⁹⁵ ROA/24/5062-5064.

^b ROA/3/577.

The court allowed the state to introduce evidence of a prior prosecution of RANDOLPH for the murder of his second wife, Becky Randolph, where Becky was found dead in her residence. She was found lying on a water bed in the master bedroom with a single gunshot wound to her right temple. Detective Dick Martin moved the gun before crime scene analysts or detectives arrived on the scene, and then tried to recreate the location of the gun. A suicide note was found on the kitchen table downstairs encircled by Becky's wedding ring.⁹⁷ Becky had tried to commit suicide before,⁹⁸ and had been having an affair with Tarantino, a friend of Becky and RANDOLPH. After RANDOLPH found out about the affair, he started divorce proceedings against Becky, their house was being foreclosed, and Becky had lost her job.⁹⁹ He also beat up Tarantino and left his bloody glove at the work place of Tarantino's wife, so she would know that he had avenged the disloyalty of Becky and Tarantino. Tarantino was the main witness against RANDOLPH during his trial for Becky's murder, claiming that RANDOLPH had come up with several scenarios for ways to kill his wife, Becky. However, there was never any contention by anyone that Tarantino was involved in any way in Becky's death, despite all the supposed scenarios where Tarantino was to be the trigger man. And, Tarantino claimed that these plans were being discussed before RANDOLPH

⁹⁷ ROA/10/2184-2185.

⁹⁸ ROA/10/2185.

⁹⁹ ROA/10/2184.

was even married to Becky, ¹⁰⁰ yet his purported purpose was to obtain money from life insurance on Becky's life¹⁰¹ – insurance that would not even be in place until RANDOLPH married Becky! RANDOLPH was acquitted and Tarantino was later determined by Utah authorities to have borne false witness against RANDOLPH and was a person not to be trusted.

While in prison awaiting trial, RANDOLPH tried to hire a man to again beat up Tarantino, but the man he tried to hire was a undercover agent and he was arrested for "witness tampering." RANDOLPH served some time for that charge, which was eventually reduced to a misdemeanor after the court learned of Tarantino's lies. RANDOLPH ultimately obtained a Utah order expunging all files relating to the Becky and Tarantino prosecutions,¹⁰² and successfully sued Utah authorities for malicious prosecution.

The Nevada court determined that evidence of the Becky and Tarantino prosecutions was relevant and admissible to show knowledge, intent, preparation, plan, motive, and identity "because in the instant case, Defendant admittedly knew (and was friends with) the man who allegedly shot his wife."¹⁰³

. . . .

¹⁰⁰ See "Course Of Proceedings" above.

¹⁰¹ ROA/17/3597.

¹⁰² ROA/3/578-580.

¹³ ROA/3/584.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

VI

It is the state's position that RANDOLPH solicited Michael Miller to kill Sharon Randolph in a staged burglary, following which he ambushed and killed an unsuspecting Miller. The state further contends that the motive for these killings was over \$400,000 in life insurance proceeds on the life of Sharon Randolph.¹⁰⁴

It is RANDOLPH's position that he is innocent. He did not kill Sharon Randolph or conspire with Miller to kill her, and there was absolutely no evidence presented of a conspiracy between RANDOLPH and Miller to commit murder. He contends that evidence of the Becky and Tarantino prosecutions 29 years earlier was inherently false and unreliable and was improperly admitted in the instant case for no other purpose than to establish in the jury's mind that RANDOLPH was a serial wife murderer, and that its admission violated choice of law rules by ignoring Utah's expungement laws which precluded McGuire (Utah prosecutor) from offering any type of testimony about those matters either at trial or during the *Petrocelli* hearing.

RANDOLPH further contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct throughout the pendency of the case by convincing the court and the jury through false representations that RANDOLPH had killed four or five of his six wives. It

¹⁰⁴ ROA/3/578.

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