IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THOMAS WILLIAM RANDOLPH,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 18 2019 02:02 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 73825

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SANDRA L. STEWART, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

The prior bad acts were highly probative of Appellant's guilt and were not relied on for an improper purpose. Furthermore, any error in the district court's admission of evidence of Appellant's prior bad acts for one purpose is harmless because the State only needed to affirmatively demonstrate one of the NRS 48.045(2) exceptions.

This Court should affirm the decision of the district court to allow the State to introduce Appellant's other bad acts at trial.

IV. APPELLANT'S RIGHTS TO BAIL AND SPEEDY TRIAL WERE NOT VIOLATED.

Appellant next complains that both his right to bail under NRS 178.484 and his Sixth Amendment and statutory speedy-trial rights were violated, but each claim fails under the weight of authority. AOB at 53-60.

A. The District Court Properly Denied Appellant's Request for Bail Because Proof of Appellant's Conspiracy to Murder Sharon was Evident.

Appellant argues that the district court erred in denying him bail. AOB at 56. NRS 178.484(1) provides that "a person arrested for an offense other than murder of the first degree must be admitted to bail." Next, NRS 178.484(4) gives a judge

discretion to grant bail to a defendant charged with first-degree murder; however, that discretion is limited— "[a] person arrested for murder of the first degree may be admitted to bail unless the proof is evident or the presumption great..." that firstdegree murder was committed. This Court reviews the district court's denial of Appellant's request for bail under NRS 178.484(4) for abuse of discretion. Bergna v. State, 120 Nev. 869, 567-77, 102 P.3d 549, 554 (2004). Furthermore, this Court need not "automatically or mechanically remand a bail matter to the district court for a hearing and more specific findings where the district court fails to specify adequate reasons for its decision." Id. Appellant carries the burden to "provide this court with those parts of the record of the proceedings below that are essential to this court's thorough understanding of the application." Id. "In opposing, the State may also provide this court with any additional, appropriate parts of the transcript or record below that support the State's position." Id.

In this case, Appellant does not even attempt to direct this court to parts of the record that are essential to this court's thorough understanding of the application. Perhaps Appellant's ignorance of the district court's ruling is attributable to his erroneous belief that the standard of review on this issue is de novo. AOB at 53. Because of Appellant's failure to discuss the district court's detailed ruling, this Court should not consider this issue under <u>Bergna</u>. Alternatively, this Court need not consider the issue because, without any reference to the record, Appellant has failed

to cogently argue the issue. <u>Maresca v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987).

Regardless, an examination of the district court's detailed findings shows that it properly exercised its discretion under NRS 178.484(4). First, the district court determined there was a high likelihood of conviction. 1 AA 290. The district court found that there was no dispute Appellant was charged with the offense of firstdegree murder. <u>Id.</u> The district court further concluded that the evidence produced at the grand jury supported the First-Degree Murder Indictment. 1 AA 290-91; <u>see supra</u>, Section I(b). Second, the district court determined that Appellant was a flight risk as he was in Utah at the time of the arrest. <u>Id.</u> Finally, the district court stated that there was no evidence of community ties or employment history that would mitigate against the evidence produced at grand jury Indictment. 1 AA 291-92. Therefore, the district court properly denied Appellant's motion for bail.

B. Appellant's Speedy-Trial Right was not Violated.

Appellant also argues that his constitutional right to speedy trial was violated by the eight-and-half-year delay. AOB at 58. As a preliminary matter, Appellant provides not a single citation to the record in this section of his brief. AOB at 58-61. Thus, this Court should not consider this issue because Appellant failed to comply with NRAP $28(a)(4)^6$ and $(e)^7$.

Regardless, Appellant's speedy trial rights granted by Nevada law and the U.S. Constitution were not violated. First, Nevada affords a person the statutory right to a trial within 60 days after arraignment. NRS 178.556(2). However, a person can waive this statutory right either personally or through counsel. <u>Furbay v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 481, 484, 998 P.2d 553, 555 (2000). Here, Appellant waived his statutory right to speedy trial. 1 AA 166-67. Therefore, Appellant's argument that he was unable to assert his right to speedy trial is meritless.

In addition to Nevada law, a person has a constitutional right to speedy trial. "[t]here is no fixed time that indicates when the right to a speedy trial has been violated; thus, the right is assessed in relation to the circumstances of each case. <u>Furbay</u>, at 484, 998 P.2d at 555 (<u>citing Barker v. Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514, 515, 92 S.Ct. 2192, (1972)). This Court has held that "[a] court must conduct a balancing test to determine if a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial was violated." <u>Middleton v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1089, 1110, 968 P.2d 296, 310 (1998) (<u>citing Barker</u>,

⁶ An appellant's brief shall contain "the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons therefor, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on."

⁷ "Every assertion in briefs regarding matters in the record shall be supported by a reference to the page of the transcript or appendix where the matter relied on is to be found...."

114 at 530, 92 S.Ct. at 2182)). When making this balancing test, four factors are relevant: (1) length of delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of his right; and (4) prejudice to the defendant. <u>Furbay</u>, at 484-85, 998 P.2d at 555 (citing Barker, at 407 U.S. 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182)).

The length of the delay. Appellant failed to show why the eight-and-halfyear delay in this case was presumptively prejudicial. Appellant cites to Doggett but does not meaningfully analyze Doggett inquiry. The length-of-the-delay factor contains two inquires. Doggett v. U.S., 505 U.S. 647, 651, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (1992). First, a defendant must demonstrate that the delay between accusation and the first time that defendant demands a speedy trial exceeded an ordinary delay to a "presumptively prejudicial" delay. Id. at 651-52, 112 S.Ct. 2686. If this burden is met, then this Court considers the extent to which the delay has exceeded beyond the permissible threshold. Id. at 652, 112 S.Ct. at 2686. Thus, "presumptive prejudice does not necessarily indicate a statistical probability of prejudice; it simply marks the point at which courts deem the delay unreasonable enough to trigger" the four-factor inquiry under Barker. Id. at 652, 112 S.Ct 2686 n.1. This Court employed this Doggett analysis and determined that two-and-half-year delay is not presumptive prejudicial. Middleton, 114 Nev. at 1110, 968 P.2d at 311. This Court never held that an eight-year delay is presumptively prejudicial. In fact, this Court in Middleton specifically stated that the eight-and-half-year delay in Doggett was

presumptively prejudicial because the delay was coupled with governmental negligence. <u>Id.</u> In this case, the length of delay is eight and half years; while lengthy, Appellant does not allege it was combined with any governmental negligence. Thus, the instant case is distinguishable from <u>Doggett</u>, and Appellant has failed to provide a cogent argument to show why the delay in this case was presumptively prejudicial under Doggett.

The reasons for the delay. The reason for the delay was entirely attributable to Appellant. The State had been ready to proceed to trial since January 24, 2011. 3 AA 599. However, the trial could not proceed because Appellant went through four different counsel. Appellant's first counsel, Gabriel Grasso, withdrew on June 11, 2009. 39 AA 8481. Appellant then hired Brent Bryson and Yale Galanter as counsel. 3 AA 318. On February 13, 2012, Appellant fired Bryson and Galanter. 6 AA 1161. The district court then appointed public defender's office to represent Appellant. 6 AA 1160, 1162. On March 21, 2014, Appellant fired his counsel from the public defender's office. 39 AA 8553. On April 2, 2014, the special public defender's office was appointed to represent Appellant. 10 AA 2111. In fact, Appellant attempted to fire his counsel from the special public defender's office and represent himself. 11 AA 2294. Appellant is facing death sentence. Whenever an existing counsel is fired, new counsel must go through the entire record, develop a strategy, and conduct appropriate investigations. Appellant is solely responsible for the delay in his trial because the State had been ready since January 24, 2011, which was less than two years after Appellant's arrest. 3 AA 599. Thus, the-reason-for-the-delay factor overwhelmingly favors the State.

Appellant's assertion of his speedy-trial right. Appellant waived his speedy

trial right. On February 2, 2009, the following exchanges occurred:

[Defense counsel]: I've talked to [Appellant] and based on the nature of the case, we would be [waiving 60-day speedy trial].

The Court: Mr. Randolph.

[Appellant]: I'm deaf in one year. I didn't hear all of that. The Court: All right. Mr. Randolph. So, we're here today—we're going to give you a new trial date. Your attorney says you're—you've waived the 60-day requirement; correct?

[Appellant]: That's correct.

1 AA 166-67. Thus, Appellant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to speedy trial. This factor favors the State.

Prejudice to Appellant. Appellant was not prejudiced. In fact, Appellant failed to specify how he was prejudiced. He merely states that "[Appellant] asserted prejudice on many occasions, claiming time and again that he was not receiving adequate medical treatment and that he was impaired in his ability to assist in his defense." AOB at 60. Appellant never explained how his constitutional rights were affected. Thus, Appellant failed to provide more than naked and bare allegation as

to how he was prejudiced by the eight-and-a-half-year delay. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). Accordingly, Appellant's speedy-trial right was not violated.

V. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT ARE MERITLESS.

Appellant claims several instances of prosecutorial misconduct. AOB at62-79. Reviewing prosecutorial misconduct requires a two-step analysis. <u>Valdez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, this Court determines whether the conduct was improper. <u>Id.</u> If yes, this Court analyzes whether the improper conduct rises to the level that warrants reversal. <u>Id.</u>

Also, two separate harmless-error standards apply to two different types of prosecutorial misconduct. <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476-77. Instances of prosecutorial misconduct can be classified as constitutional or nonconstitutional error. <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476-77. Constitutional error includes conducts that "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial or due process." <u>Id.</u> The misconduct can also be constitutional in nature if it involves improper commentary on a defendant's exercise of constitutional rights. <u>Id.</u> This Court applies the <u>Chapman</u> standard if the prosecutorial misconduct is of constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> (<u>citing Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). If the misconduct is not of constitutional dimension, this Court will only

reverse if the misconduct substantially affects the jury's verdict. <u>Valdez</u>, at 1189, 196 P.3d at 477.

However, the application of these harmless-review standards is dependent upon a defendant's preservation of the error for appellate review. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 12 Nev. 194, 208 163 P.3d 408, 418 (2007). Thus, the failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct generally precludes appellate review. <u>Id.</u> However, this Court can still review the unpreserved conduct for plain error if the error: "(1) had a prejudicial impact on the verdict when viewed in context of the trial as a whole, or (2) seriously affects the integrity of public reputation of the judicial proceedings." <u>Id.</u> at 208-09, 163 P.3d at 418.

A. Appellant's Meritless Claim of Vindictive Arrest is not Cogently Argued.

Appellant provides no legal authority to support a claim of vindictive arrest. In fact, not a single authority was cited in Appellant's vindictive-claim section of the brief. AOB 59-61. Also, <u>Napue v. Illinois</u>, 360 U.S. 264, 78 S.Ct. 1173 (1959) was cited in the previous section, but none of the <u>Napue</u> three-factor test was discussed. Furthermore, the issue of vindictive arrest was never raised below. Thus, this Court should not review Appellant's claim of vindictive arrest because it was not cogently argued or properly preserved. <u>Maresca v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987); Rose, 12 Nev. at 194, 208, 163 P.3d at 418. Regardless, <u>Napue</u> deals with the prosecution's knowing use of false evidence or failing to correct false evidence when it appears. <u>Napue</u>, 360 U.S. at 264, 78 S.Ct at 1173. Appellant claims that Utah Detective Conley and prosecutor McGuire provided untruthful information. AOB at 62. However, the basis of this allegation is a letter from Appellant's first wife, Kathryn. <u>Id.</u> First, it is puzzling how this letter alone can prove the testimonies as false evidence. Second, Appellant does not demonstrate the State knowingly used false evidence. Third, Appellant does not discuss whether the alleged false testimonies were material to Appellant's conviction. Thus, Appellant failed to raise a proper claim under <u>Napue</u>.

B. The Argument that Appellant Attempt to Kill, Hired Someone to Kill, or Killed Five out of the Six of His Ex-Wives was Supported by Evidence.

As a preliminary matter, this Court should not consider Appellant's argument because it was unsupported by any relevant case law. AOB 64-66. In fact, not a single authority was cited by Appellant in this argument. <u>Maresca</u>, 103 Nev. at 673, 748 P.2d at 6. Also, this Court should not consider issue because it was unpreserved. <u>Rose</u>, 12 Nev. at 194, 208, 163 P.3d at 418. Finally, Appellant lists four instances where the allegations were made outside of the trial. AOB at 64-65. It is puzzling how allegations outside of a trial can affect the integrity of a jury verdict. Appellant does not provide any authority to show comments made directly to the court during motion practice and outside of a trial can support a cognizable claim of prosecutorial

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